INTRODUCTION 

Less than two months before her case was to go to MAR 

arbitration, Plaintiff-Appellant, Ms. Colleen Kelly, had her claims 

summarily dismissed in the Superior Court. Her claims arose out of the 

cancellation of three annuity contracts issued by Defendant-Respondent 

Allianz Life Insurance Company of North America ("Allianz") that were 

never approved by the State and were sold to Ms. Kelly by an 

unscrupulous insurance broker. Once confronted that its annuities were 

not authorized for sale in Washington, Allianz returned her premium 

payments. In doing so, however, Allianz failed to include interest on her 

premiums in the percentage provided by law in the Washington general 

interest statute, RCW 19.52.010, which was twelve percent, instead only 

paying Ms. Kelly three percent. 

Once negotiations between the parties failed, Ms. Kelly filed a 

lawsuit against Allianz on August 11, 2011, seeking the full amount of 

interest to which she is entitled. After the matter was set for MAR 

arbitration, Allianz moved for summary judgment in Superior Court 

arguing that the applicable statute of limitations is three years, and that it 

had run before the suit was commenced. The Court below agreed and 

dismissed the case without any findings, conclusions, or comment. 
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Pursuant to RCW 4.16.040, the applicable statute of limitations is 

six years and did not begin to run until the point in time, September 13, 

2005, when Allianz refunded Ms. Kelly her premiums and shorted her on 

the applicable interest. Under a proper interpretation of the applicable 

law, the decision below should be reversed and Ms. Kelly be allowed her 

"day in court" so that her claims may be decided on the merits. 

Rescission of the annuities was never completed or fully 

consummated because Ms. Kelly never received reimbursement for the 

full statutory rate of interest on her initial payments under the annuity 

contracts. Instead, Allianz chose an arbitrary rate of three percent and 

paid that amount to Ms. Kelly. Allianz has never explained how it chose 

three percent. However, by its conduct Allianz concedes that it owed 

Ms. Kelly interest. The dispute now before this Court concerns what is 

the appropriate rate of interest to be applied while Ms. Kelly's monies 

were held by Allianz pursuant to the illegal contracts, and the applicable 

limitations period to that claim for interest. 

Ms. Kelly seeks to recover the full interest to which she is entitled, 

namely, the difference between the three percent paid by Allianz and the 

twelve percent owed to her under RCW 19.52.010. She is entitled to this 

interest to compensate her for the lost time-value of money held by 

Allianz while the parties were unaware of the illegality of the annuities. 
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This would restore her to the status quo ante, which is the appropriate 

remedy in the context of rescission. 

I. Assignments of Error 

1. The Superior Court erred in granting summary judgment because 
Ms. Kelly is entitled to twelve percent interest on principal 
invested in the illegal annuity contracts pursuant to Washington's 
general interest statute, RCW 19.52.010. 

2. Ms. Kelly's claims are subject to a six-year statute of limitations 
pursuant to RCW 4.16.040 because they involve Allianz's liability 
arising out of written agreements, and these claims accrued when 
Allianz failed to repay the full amount of interest Ms. Kelly was 
owed. Prior to that time, there was no dispute or justiciable 
controversy between the parties. The Superior Court erred in 
granting summary judgment to the extent it found Ms. Kelly's 
claims untimely. 

3. To the extent it granted summary judgment based on accord and 
satisfaction of Ms. Kelly's claims as a matter of law, the Superior 
Court erred since accord and satisfaction involves a factual 
detem1ination of the parties' intent, and these material facts are in 
dispute on that question. Evidence in the record demonstrates 
Ms. Kelly never intended to agree to settle this dispute. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Under Washington law, does the general interest statute, RCW 
19.52.010, apply to the return of premiums held as payment for 
illegal investment annuities when the annuities were not approved 
for sale in Washington and were later rescinded? 

2. Does a six-year statute of limitations from RCW 4.16.040 apply 
when a claim is brought for statutory interest upon rescission of a 
written contract? Does a claim for interest accrue and become ripe 
at the point in time when the rescinding party provides the ~Tong 
amount of interest when, prior to that time, the rescinding party 
gave no indication that it would violate the general interest statute? 
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3. Did the parties agree, as a matter of law, to settle this dispute, 
where the matter was not in dispute at the time of the alleged 
"accord and satisfaction," where there was and is no agreement 
manifesting the parties' intent to settle, no other evidence offered 
to indicate the parties intended to settle, and where one party 
disputes that it ever intended to settle and has evidence to support 
its position? 

II. Statement of Facts 

In April of 2004, Ms. Kelly was introduced to Curtis Horton, an 

insurance broker, who represented himself as a financial and retirement 

planning consultant. (CP 95) When she told Mr. Horton she had 

investments of roughly $100,000.00, he urged her to acquire certain 

annuity policies he was selling: the annuity policies at issue in this case 

issued by Allianz (the "Annuities"). (CP 95) 

Based on Horton's statements, Ms. Kelly purchased three Allianz 

Annuities. To do so, however, she had to liquidate all of her existing inde-

pendent investment assets in order to pay Allianz the premiums. (CP 96) 

After discovering that the Allianz Annuities were never approved 

for sale in Washington, Ms. Kelly inquired of the Washington Office of 

the Insurance Commissioner ("OIC") whether the contracts might be 

terminated. The Washington OIC informed Allianz that the Annuities 

sold to Ms. Kelly by Mr. Horton, agent for Allianz, were never approved 

for sale in Washington, and requested that the contracts be terminated. 
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(CP 104) Mr. Horton subsequently had his insurance broker's license 

revoked. (CP 12-14) 

Allianz, through its Compliance Analyst, Mary Lou Fleischhacker, 

canceled the policies via a letter dated September 13, 2005. (CP 21) 

Enclosed with the letter were checks for the premium amounts as well as 

three percent interest. Id. The premiums and the interest for each annuity 

were combined into one check per policy. Ms. Kelly had little choice but 

to cash these checks, given that she had earlier liquidated her other 

investments to pay Allianz for the Annuities in the first place. Allianz has 

characterized this return of monies as having "rescinded" the Annuities, 

however, Ms. Kelly received only three percent interest on her premiums. 

(CP 26) There were no representations in the September 13, 2005, letter 

from Allianz, nor were there any recitals or restrictive endorsements on 

these checks, stating or implying that Ms. Kelly was agreeing to accept 

three percent interest as the final resolution of her claims against Allianz 

by depositing the checks. (CP 21) 

In fact, Ms. Kelly never agreed explicitly or implicitly that three 

percent was the proper amount of interest to which she was entitled in 

conjunction with restitution of the Annuity premiums. The contrary is 

true. (CP 96) In the time following her receipt ofthe checks from 

Allianz, Ms. Kelly contacted Allianz by phone and spoke with Ms. 
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Fleischhacker. (CP 108) Ms. Kelly told Ms. Fleischhacker that she was 

dissatisfied with the amount of the checks and that she felt she was 

entitled to more, especially in interest. Id. Ms. Fleischhacker of Allianz 

made notes of this conversation from March 20, 2006, and recorded that 

"Ms. Kelly has consulted an attorney and was told Allianz should have 

paid her twelve percent interest in accordance with the Washington statute 

regarding statutory pre judgment law. Calling to get additional 9% 

interest sent to her." (CP 94) 

During November 2008, Ms. Kelly retained counsel and notified 

Allianz of this development. (CP 110) Counsel for Ms. Kelly contacted 

Allianz by phone to discuss the interest rate matter. (CP 90) Over time, 

Allianz and counsel for Ms. Kelly engaged in a series of written 

communications regarding the dispute over the amount of interest owed to 

Ms. Kelly. This process came to a head during the spring and summer of 

2011, when counsel for Ms. Kelly and Allianz attempted to negotiate a 

resolution of the dispute over the interest paid to Ms. Kelly. (CP 116-145) 

The parties were unable to resolve the dispute and the original complaint 

was filed on August 19,2011. (CP 36) The complaint was later amended 

on December 19,2011. (CP 1-26) 

In the communications between Ms. Kelly, her attorney, and 

Allianz prior to filing this lawsuit, Allianz never once contended that by 
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depositing the premium refund check, Ms. Kelly was agreeing or 

accepting that three percent was the proper measure of interest to which 

she was entitled, or that her depositing of the checks was a settlement of 

her claims. Nor were any assertions made by Allianz prior to the filing of 

this suit that her claims were time barred. 

Because of the amount in controversy, this matter was subject to 

Mandatory Arbitration MAR. An arbitration hearing was scheduled for 

September 21,2012. However, before the arbitration went forward, 

Allianz succeeded on its motion for summary judgment and the matter 

was dismissed on July 27,2012. (CP 169-170) 

ARGUMENT 

III. Standard of Review 

This Court is reviewing a grant of summary judgment by the 

Superior Court on Ms. Kelly's two claims for relief: (1) for rescission of 

the annuity contracts and (2) for declaratory judgment regarding the rights 

of the parties. Accordingly, the standard of review of the record and 

matters of law here is de novo. Jackowski v. Borchelt, 174 Wn.2d 720, 

729,278 P.3d 1100, 1105 (2012); Pelton v. Tri-State Memorial Hospital, 

Inc., 66 Wn. App. 350, 354, 831 P.2d 1147,1150 (1992)("In reviewing a 

summary judgment, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the 

trial court."). 
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In addition, because this case calls for construction of statutes, 

including RCW 19.52.010 (general interest), RCW 4.16.040 (statute of 

limitations), and RCW 4.16.270 (effect of partial payment of liability on 

statute of limitations), review of these statutory construction issues is also 

de novo as a matter oflaw. Jackowski, 174 Wn.2d at 729. 

A motion for summary judgment may only succeed if there is no 

genuine issue of material fact when viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party. !d. ("We review de novo an order 

granting summary judgment, taking all facts and inferences in the light 

most favorable to the nonmoving party.")(quotation omitted); Wm. 

Dickson Co. v. Pierce Cnty., 128 Wn. App. 488, 492,116 P.3d 409,412 

(2005) (reversing grant of summary judgment below in contract context, 

setting forth standard of review as de novo). An appellate court may only 

affirm summary judgment if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and 

admissions on file demonstrate that there are no genuine issues of material 

fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

TransAlta Centralia Generation LLC v. Sicklesteel Cranes, Inc., 134 Wn. 

App. 819,825,142 P.3d 209,212 (2006). 

Here, the applicable law and relevant facts demonstrate that 

Ms. Kelly has a cognizable right to recover twelve percent interest on 

premium amounts paid to Allianz on the Annuities, that her claims for 
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relief were timely filed within the applicable statute of limitations, and the 

parties did not agree to settle this dispute. 

IV. Ms. Kelly is Entitled to Twelve Percent Interest per 
RCW 19.52.010 on Payments to Allianz. 

RCW 19.52.010 ("Rate In Absence Of Agreement") states: 

(1) Every loan or forbearance of money, goods, or thing in 
action shall bear interest at the rate of twelve percent per 
annum where no different rate is agreed to in writing 
between the parties .... 

Courts have given this statute broad effect by holding that RCW 

19.52.010 applies a twelve percent rate of interest to any "liquidated" 

claim, meaning an amount capable of determination as a sum certain 

without recourse to opinion or discretion. See, e.g., Wright v. Dave 

Johnson Ins., Inc., 167 Wn. App. 758, 776, 275 P.3d 339,350 (2012) 

(applying RCW 19.52.010 rate to reimbursement of insurance premium 

payments). 

Neither party disputes that Ms. Kelly's claims are "liquidated" as 

they are for a fixed and easily ascertainable sum. A sum certain, 

$136,437.13, was the amount Ms. Kelly paid in premiums to Allianz for 

the Annuities, and $141,221.69 was the amount Allianz returned to her-

representing her premiums, plus three percent interest. (CP at 2, 18-19, 

21-24,34-35.) By applying simple math to Ms. Kelly's claim for interest, 

the amount of Ms. Kelly's claim is easily computed, without recourse to 
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opinion or discretion. Thus, Ms. Kelly's claim is liquidated and within the 

purview ofRCW 19.52.010. 

Aside from the fact that Ms. Kelly's claim is within the purview of 

RCW 19.52.010 because it is a liquidated claim, it also falls within the 

plain language of the statute as a forbearance. Using the definition of 

forbearance relied upon by Allianz, a forbearance is "[t]he act of 

refraining from enforcing a right, obligation, or debt." Bryan A. Gamer, 

Black's Law Dictionary (West 2006). (CP 39) Neither party disputes that 

Allianz held Ms. Kelly's premium payments in exchange for purported 

annuity insurance contracts. Upon Ms. Kelly's discovery that the 

contracts were illegal, the Washington State OIC contacted Allianz to 

request the contracts be terminated, which Allianz did. Acknowledging 

her right to the premiums paid, Allianz returned the amount Ms. Kelly had 

paid with a three percent rate of interest. Because she had a right to the 

money from the moment she paid for the illegal investment Annuities, 

Ms. Kelly's act of not enforcing that right during the period that Allianz 

wrongfully held her money fits squarely within the definition of 

forbearance. From the plain language ofRCW 19.52.010, Ms. Kelly is 

entitled to a rate of twelve percent interest for the period of forbearance. 
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a. Twelve Percent Interest Accrues to Insurance Premiums 
And Amounts Held Pursuant to Rescinded Contracts 

RCW 19.52.010 applies to reimbursement of insurance premiums. 

Wright, 167 Wn. App. at 776. The Wright Court reversed and remanded a 

lower court's rejection of the statutory rate and adoption of a lower rate-

a rate the court below deemed a "fair" rate. Id. The Wright Court 

reversed and held that RCW 19.52.010 statute "mandates" twelve percent 

interest when the parties have not agreed on some other rate. Id. (citing 

Schrom v. Bd. for Volunteer Fire Fighters, 153 Wn.2d 19,36, 100 P.3d 

814 (2004).). Thus, regardless of whether the three percent Allianz 

provided to Ms. Kelly is deemed "fair"-which it is not-that would not 

be the proper amount here. The Wright case mandates that statutory 

twelve percent interest applies to Allianz's return of Ms. Kelly's premium 

amounts, which were held wrongly throughout the duration of the illegal 

annuity contracts. 

This result makes sense in the rescission context and is supported 

by case law. During the period Allianz held Ms. Kelly's investment 

premiums as payment for the investment contracts which turned out to be 

valueless, Ms. Kelly was deprived of the use of those funds. For this 

reason, when illegal contracts (such as Ms. Kelly's investment Annuities) 

are rescinded, RCW 19.52.010 sets the interest rate at twelve percent in 
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order to restore the innocent party to its pre-contract position, absent a 

contrary telTIl in the contract itself. See Morango v. Phillips, 33 Wn.2d 

351, 357-58, 205 P.2d 892, 895 (1949) ("if a rescission is had, ... each 

party to the contract must place the other in status quo in so far as it is 

practicable or possible so to do."); Hornback v. Wentworth, 132 Wn. App. 

504, 505, 132 P.3d 778, 782 (2006) (applying twelve percent interest rate 

from RCW 19.52.010 to rescinded contract for funds paid pursuant 

thereto, reasoning "[r]escission is an equitable remedy and requires the 

court to fashion an equitable solution."). 

The Hornback Court's reasoning should infolTIl the reasoning here 

since it confronted facts remarkably similar to those in this case. In 

Hornback, the plaintiff asserted a common law claim of rescission arising 

out of a written land sale agreement where a zoning change made 

perfolTIlance illegal. Id. at 508-509. The plaintiff had paid the defendant 

sums pursuant to the written agreement, which were held by the defendant 

until the contract was rescinded. Id. The seller argued that the rate of 

interest on funds paid as set forth in the contract--eleven percent-should 

apply to the return of monies after rescission. Id. at 514. However, the 

Court awarded the full twelve percent interest on those funds pursuant to 

RCW 19.52.010. 
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Twelve percent is the relevant interest rate applicable to funds paid 

pursuant to a rescinded contract where no rate is specified in the ternlS of 

the contract. Id. at 514. Here, twelve percent is appropriate because the 

Annuities at issue contained no express interest rate in the event of 

rescission. That other returns on monies may be contained in the contracts 

is irrelevant. As the Hornback Court reasoned: 

While the parties' contract sets an 11 percent interest rate, 
this rate related to (1) the rate the Hornbacks would pay if 
payments were deferred, and (2) the rate the Hornbacks 
would pay on property expenses, such as taxes and 
insurance, paid by the Wentworths if the Hornbacks failed 
to pay the expenses. The contract interest rate was not set 
to provide for equitable restitution upon rescission. 
Considering all, we cannot say the court erred in equitably 
setting the prejudgment interest rate at twelve percent. 

Jd. at 514 (emphasis added). 

As in Hornback, the written agreement in this case did not provide 

for an interest rate in the event of rescission. (CP at 2 (Complaint, ~ 7), 28 

(Answer, ~ 7)) Since Allianz refused to pay the full statutory twelve 

percent interest, Ms. Kelly is entitled to the balance owing under the 

statutory twelve percent interest. 

Here, Allianz rescinded the contract, but the rescission was never 

complete or consummated because Allianz did not pay Ms. Kelly the full 

amount of interest it owed. Ms. Kelly has yet to be restored to where she 

would have been had the contracts never existed. Morango v. Phillips, 33 
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Wn.2d at 357-58. Under these circumstances, the legal rate of interest is 

supplied by RCW 19.52.010. Id.; see also Hornback, 132 Wn. App. at 

514. 

b. Twelve Percent Interest Accrues in Cases of Voluntary 
Rescission. 

The fact that the rescission here was initiated through mutual and 

voluntary action-as opposed to a court order--does not change the 

analysis. Nor is the fact that the obligor admits it owes the principal 

amount germane. 

In Schrom, the Washington Supreme Court held that twelve 

percent interest was mandatory on sums returned to payors who 

erroneously paid premiums into a pension system over several years. 153 

Wn.2d at 36. The Schrom defendant conceded liability on the underlying 

amount, "stipulating it would be liable to respondents for all coverage fees 

erroneously paid." Id. at 35. However in Schrom, as here, only the rate of 

interest was disputed. Id. The Supreme Court held that twelve percent 

applied pursuant to RCW 19.52.010 because "no other rate was agreed 

between the parties." Id. at 36. To hold otherwise would have given the 

defendant a "windfall for inadvertently accepting coverage fees [the 

amounts erroneously paid]" under wrongful circumstances. Id. The same 

logic applies here-to allow Allianz to retain Ms. Kelly's monies under 
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illegal contracts, have the benefit of those funds, and not return them with 

adequate interest, would provide a similar windfall benefit. Absent RCW 

19.52.010, Allianz would be free to pick any interest rate out of the air

here it inexplicably chose three percent. 

In Morango v. Phillips, the Washington Supreme Court further 

explained that restoring the parties to their respective positions as if the 

contract had never existed is the relevant inquiry in the case of voluntary 

rescission: "if a rescission is had, either as the result of a decree of court 

or by mutual agreement, each party to the contract must place the other in 

status quo in so far as it is practicable or possible so to do," 33 Wn.2d at 

357-58 (emphasis added). This is because "[t]he contract is at an end as 

though it never existed." !d. 

c. Allianz Concedes Interest is Owed. 

On September 13, 2005, Allianz returned Ms. Kelly's premium 

funds with three percent interest. (CP at 21.) By returning Ms. Kelly's 

capital with interest (albeit at an incorrect rate), Allianz has admitted that 

interest accrued on her funds during the period it held them. See Spencer 

v. Alki Point Transp. Co., 53 Wn. 77, 90,101 P. 509, 514 (1909) ("Part 

payment of the bill or note after its maturity by the drawer or indorser, is 

an acknowledgment of liability, and therefore, alone and unexplained, is 

presumptive evidence that the liability was duly fixed according to law."). 
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Accordingly, the only dispute is the correct rate of interest on Ms. Kelly's 

funds. 

Investment vehicles, such as the Annuities sold by insurance 

companies like Allianz, provide Allianz with the benefit of possessing an 

investor's capital for a certain period oftime, allowing them to gain a 

return on that capital. Allianzhas retained that benefit, having held 

Ms. Kelly's capital pursuant to illegal contracts for a period of time, and 

has only repaid Ms. Kelly an arbitrarily low interest rate of three 

percent-contrary to the statutory mandate of twelve percent. It is 

inequitable in the context of rescission for a party to retain the benefit of a 

contract while seeking to rescind the remainder of the deal. See Gentry v. 

Smith, 487 F.2d 571, 578-579 (5th Cir. 1973) (" ... it is inequitable to 

allow one party to a ... contract to retain both the subject matter of the 

transaction and the benefit conferred upon him by the other party"). 

V. The Six-Year Limitations Period Provided For in 
RCW 4.16.040 Applies Because Allianz's Liability Arises Out 
of a Written Agreement. 

Allianz's liability for interest arises out of three written investment 

annuity contracts. The applicable limitations period on Ms. Kelly's claims 

is clearly provided by RCW 4.16.040. That section states: 

The following actions shall be commenced within six 
years: (1) An action upon a contract in writing, or liability 
express or implied arising out of a written agreement 
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RCW 4.16.040 (emphasis added). 

The law is clear in Washington that actions for rescission or 

declaratory judgment regarding the rights of the parties derived from 

written agreements are covered by a six year statute of limitations because 

they are actions upon contracts in writing and involve liability-express or 

implied-"arising" out of written contractual agreements. See, e.g., 

Hornback, 132 Wn. App. at 514. 

In Hornback, this Court analyzed the appropriate statute of 

limitations for rescission of a contract based on illegality-a remarkably 

similar circumstance to that presented here. 132 Wn. App. at 514. The 

Court found that "rescission based upon mutual mistake is still an action 

upon a written contract subject to the six-year limitation period ofRCW 

4.16.040." Id. 

In claims for declaratory judgment, courts look to the underlying 

nature of the claim at issue to supply the appropriate statute of limitations. 

Thus, for Ms. Kelly's claims of rescission and declaratory judgment, the 

appropriate statutory limitation period is six years. 
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VI. The Six-Year Limitations Period Began to Run no Earlier 
Than September 13, 2005, When Allianz Paid Ms. Kelly The 
Wrong Amount of Interest. 

The statute of limitations began to run no earlier than 

September 13, 2005-the date of Allianz's underpayment of interest. This 

is the first time Ms. Kelly could have been aware of her current claims for 

relief because it is the date Allianz arbitrarily underpaid her by adding 

only three percent interest to her principal repayment. Until then, no 

dispute existed between the parties and no claim could have accrued. The 

statute of limitations could not, by definition, have begun to run earlier, 

because Ms. Kelly did not yet have a justiciable claim for relief. Ms. 

Kelly had no notice prior to that day that Allianz would act wrongfully 

and had no reason to believe it would not comply with the law in 

refunding her premiums with the proper interest factor. 

a. No Case or Controversy Existed Prior to September 13, 
2005. 

A limitations period cannot run before a party has a right to relief. 

Thompsonv. Wilson, 142 Wn. App. 803, 818,175 P.3d 1149, 1156 

(2008); Erickson v. Chase, 156 Wn. App. 151, 157,231 P.3d 1261 (2010) 

("[t]he statute of limitations does not necessarily begin running from the 

date of the written agreement. It begins running when the cause of action 

accrues, meaning when a party has the right to apply to the court for 

relief.") (citing RCW 4.16.005; Haslundv. Seattle, 86 Wn. 2d 607,619, 
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547 P.2d 1221 (1976); Campbell v. Loftus, 36 Wn. App. 678,679,676 

P.2d 1025 (1984)) (emphasis added). For a party to ask a court to grant 

relief, there must first exist a justiciable controversy between the parties. 

Thompson, 142 Wn. App. at 818. The essence of a justiciable controversy 

is the existing of actual, present, opposing interests that are direct and 

substantial, between the parties: 

Id. 

(1) ... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature 
seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, 
hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, 
(2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, 
(3) which involves interests that must be direct and 
substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or 
academic, and (4) ajudicial determination of which will be 
final and conclusive. 

Prior to September 13,2005, Ms. Kelly could have had no actual 

dispute with Allianz regarding the amount of interest to be paid on her 

principal amounts. No factual material in the record hints that Allianz 

may have picked a three percent rate prior to September 13, 2005. 

Accordingly, this case and controversy could not have arisen prior to 

Ms. Kelly having notice that Allianz would underpay the interest to which 

she was entitled. As a matter of law, the statute of limitations could 

therefore not have begun to run until September 13, 2005, at the earliest. 

See, e.g, Alabama v. US., 630 F.Supp.2d 1320, 1327 (S.D. Ala. 2008) ("a 
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cause of action does not accrue, so as to trigger the limitations period, 

until the claim is ripe for judicial resolution."). The case was filed on 

August 19,2011. Thus, this Court should not hold that the statute of 

limitations in the case at bar began to run before Ms. Kelly had the right to 

bring a cause of action against Allianz for wrongful payment of interest. 

b. RCW 4.16.040 Claims Accrue Upon Breach. 

This result is consistent with well-established principles for accrual 

of contractual claims under the applicable limitations period of RCW 

4.16.040. It is black letter law that accrual of contractual claims occurs 

when the wrongful act of a party results in a violation of the other party's 

rights-i.e., the act contrary to the other party's rights. The operative date 

to commence the contractual statute of limitations RCW 4.16.040 is not 

the date the duty arises, but rather that date a party violates that duty. Put 

another way, in any action based upon a written contract, or "where 

liability is express or implied arising out of a written agreement," the 

action must be commenced within six years after breach of that party's 

obligations. Schwindt v. Commonwealth Ins. Co., 140 Wn.2d 348, 353, 

997 P.2d 353, 356 (2000) ("the contract statute oflimitations begins to run 

against an insured on the date the insurer breaches the contract of 

insurance"); 25 Wash. Prac. § 16:20 ("In any action based upon a written 

contract, or where liability is express or implied arising out of a written 
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agreement, the action itself must be commenced within six years after 

breach.") (emphasis added). 

Courts and parties should not infer or anticipate a wrongful act or 

breach before it occurs, absent clear and positive statements to the 

contrary. Versuslas, Inc. v. Stoel Rives, LLP, 127 Wn. App. 309, 321-22, 

111 P.3d 866, 872 (2005). It logically follows that no justiciable 

controversy exists prior to the breaching party's wrongful act as discussed 

above. Schwindt, 140 Wn.2d at 353. 

Applying these basic principles here leads to only one conclusion: 

the act giving rise to Ms. Kelly's claims for twelve percent interest was 

Allianz's underpayment of interest, which occurred on September 13, 

2005. This is the key operative fact upon which Ms. Kelly's claims are 

founded and the accrual of her claims could not (and did not) occur before 

then. 

Moreover, discovery of fraud does not trigger a limitations period. 

Where a party seeks rescission because that party was defrauded by an 

illegal investment contract, the date of potential discovery of the fraud 

does not trigger a limitations period, but the date of rescission should be 

considered when determining the start date of the statute of limitations 

triggers. See Taback v. Greenberg, 108 Cal. App. 759, 760, 292 P. 279 

(2d District 1930) ("instead of the statute of limitations for the bringing of 
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this action running from ... when the alleged fraud was discovered, it 

would not begin to run until the cause of action accrued--on ... when the 

notice of rescission was served."). Here, the date of rescission was 

September 13,2005. 

Therefore, Ms. Kelly's claim is timely because it was first filed 

August 19, 2011-less than six years after the limitations period began to 

run on September 13,2005 (the date of Allianz's unlawful underpayment 

of interest). 

c. Allianz's Partial Payment Would Toll Any Limitations 
Period Per RCW 4.16.270. 

Any doubt about the proper accrual date is resolved by another 

statute that addresses partial payments on liabilities arising from contracts 

and written instruments. RCW 4.16.270 tolls the running of any 

limitations period until the date of the last partial payment made on any

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