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

V. ARGUMENT 

The trial court correctly dismissed Ms. Kelly's claims. Her action 

is time-barred under any theory. From the inception of this litigation, Ms. 

Kelly's claims have been a moving target to avoid these consequences. It 

remains unclear whether Ms. Kelly pursues a statutory action, an action on 

the contract, or an action for restitution. Ms. Kelly's tortured interpretation 
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regarding accrual of her claim is a last-ditch effort to fit her claim into any 

statute of limitations. But she cannot split her claim into component pieces 

to avoid clearly established rules regarding accrual and statutes of 

limitation. Additionally, Allianz's payment does not support tolling and, 

even if it did, this argument was not preserved because it was not 

presented to the trial court. 

Finally, if the claim is not time-barred this Court should affirm the 

dismissal on the merits as a matter of law because RCW 19.52.010 

provides no cause of action and, in any event, does not apply to the 

voluntary mutual rescission of the annuities in this case. There was no 

judicial determination and no judgment upon which to award interest. 

A. This Court should affirm the trial court's summary 
dismissal of Ms. Kelly's time-barred claims 

Ms. Kelly sued Allianz too late. The trial court correctly granted 

summary judgment dismissing Ms. Kelly's tardy claims as time-barred. 

The trial court's application of the statute of limitations was consistent 

with Washington law. If Ms. Kelly's action was truly an action on the 

contract (though she alleges no breach of contract and the parties already 

mutually rescinded) then it is barred by RCW 4.16.040(1).3 If her claim is 

3 RCW 4.16.040(1) reads: 

The following actions shall be commenced within six years: 
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one for equitable restitution for "wrongful payment of interest," then it is 

barred by the three-year statute of limitations. This Court should affirm the 

trial court' s summary judgment order dismissing Ms. Kelly's claims with 

prejudice. 

1. If the six-year statute of limitations 
applies to Ms. Kelly's claim, the trial 
court properly determined that her claim 
accrued when the annuities were issued. 

If Ms. Kelly is correct that the six-year statute of limitations 

applies to her claim, this results in dismissal. A claim arising out of a 

written contract is subject to the six-year statute of limitations. RCW 

4.16.040. A statute of limitations does not begin to run until a cause of 

action accrues. 1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs, 158 Wn.2d 566,576,146 

P.3d 423 (2006). A cause of action accrues when a party has the right to 

apply to the court for relief. "[T]his court has consistently held that accrual 

of a contract action occurs on breach." Id. (citing cases). The discovery 

rule does not apply to an action for a breach of contract. 1000 Va. Ltd. 

P'ship v. Vertecs, 158 Wn.2d at 576 (overruling Architechtonics Constr. 

Mgmt. v. Khorram, 111 Wn. App. 725, 45 P.3d 1142 (2002)). If the 

Allianz annuities were indeed illegal and justified rescission, then Ms. 

(1) An action upon a contract in writing, or liability express or 
implied arising out of a written agreement, except as provided for in RCW 
64.04.007(2). 
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Kelly's right to rescission and the attendant remedy accrued immediately 

upon issuance of the annuities. See Noel v. Cole, 98 Wn.2d 375, 383, 655 

P.2d 245 (1982) ("Since the contract was void at its purported inception, 

Alpine was entitled to immediate restitution of these amounts ... "). 

It is uncontested that Ms. Kelly did not sue Allianz until more than 

six years after Allianz issued the annuities. Allianz issued the annuities to 

Ms. Kelly in April and December of 2004 (CP 58-75). Ms. Kelly did not 

commence her-action until August 2011, over seven years later. (CP 172). 

Ms. Kelly's claims are barred by RCW 4.16.040. 

Even if the discovery rule applied to Ms. Kelly's claims, which it 

does not, or if the claim accrued upon discovery of the illegality, the 

claims still would be time-barred because she learned of the annuities' 

purported illegality on or about June 27, 2005 (CP 101-102), more than 

six years before she commenced her action. Thus, even with the benefit of 

the discovery rule, Ms. Kelly's claim is tardy. 

The trial court properly held that Ms. Kelly's claims were time

barred, stating, "1 agree with the points made out by the defense here. I 

believe that there is a statute of limitations component here such that the 

statute has run. I disagree that it's-that in this particular set of facts that it 

would be six years from September 13th of 2005 [Allianz's payment]." 

7/27112 VR 15. The trial court's decision should be affirmed. 
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2. This Court should reject Ms. Kelly's 
argument that her claim accrued when 
Allianz returned her premiums. 

Ms. Kelly seeks to avoid dismissal under the six-year statute of 

limitations by toying with the accrual date. This attempt fails . Ms. Kelly 

cannot avoid dismissal through a tortured description of her claim and 

manipulation of the accrual date. Washington law does not support the 

conclusion that her claim accrued when Allianz returned the premiums 

with 3 percent interest. 

Ms. Kelly mischaracterizes her claim to focus on the subsequent 

return of the premiums, arguing that her claim accrued then and not 

before. But the return of the premiums did not give rise to her claim. If 

anything, the return of the premiums with 3 percent interest reduced the 

scope of her already-existing claim. Her claim, in fact, accrued long before 

then when she purchased the allegedly unauthorized annuities. 

Ms. Kelly acknowledges this, claiming that "she had a right to the 

money from the moment she paid for the illegal investment 

Annuities .... " Opening Brief, at 10. Ms. Kelly could have asserted that 

she was due 12 percent interest at any time after the annuities were issued, 

including in her first request for rescission. At the very least, her claim 

accrued on or about June 27, 2005, when she learned the annuities were 

-10-



(allegedly) unauthorized. This Court should reject her unsupported, 

contradictory theory that her claim arose later and affirm. 

In her attempt to fit within the statute of limitations, Ms. Kelly 

sometimes characterizes her claim as one for "wrongful payment of 

interest." Opening Brief, at 20. She presents no authority recognizing such 

a cause of action. She goes on to acknowledge, as she does throughout 

most of her brief, that her claim is one for breach of contract. ld. (arguing 

when her "contractual claim" accrued). She in essence appears to wish 

she could assert a hybrid claim: one that is contractual in nature, therefore 

supporting application of the six year statute, but arises not from the 

contract but from Allianz's conduct in paying, in her view, inadequate 

interest. This claim does not exist in Washington, if anywhere. 

Another reason the Court should reject Ms. Kelly's accrual 

argument is because the contract itself does not provide for 12 percent 

interest if the contract is rescinded. She freely admits this. ER 4 (Amended 

Complaint, ~ 19 ("The Annuities did not provide for a rate of interest 

applicable to the Annuity premium payments in event of rescission.")). 

She is not, in other words, alleging that Allianz failed to perform a term of 

the contract. She claims, instead, that upon her right to rescind the 

contract her remedy should include 12 percent interest. Again, this relief 

arises from her rescission claim which was ripe when the annuities were 
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issued. It does not anse from any later failure of Allianz to perform